

Infor LN Service User Guide for Warranties

Copyright © 2025 Infor

Important Notices

The material contained in this publication (including any supplementary information) constitutes and contains confidential and proprietary information of Infor.

By gaining access to the attached, you acknowledge and agree that the material (including any modification, translation or adaptation of the material) and all copyright, trade secrets and all other right, title and interest therein, are the sole property of Infor and that you shall not gain right, title or interest in the material (including any modification, translation or adaptation of the material) by virtue of your review thereof other than the non-exclusive right to use the material solely in connection with and the furtherance of your license and use of software made available to your company from Infor pursuant to a separate agreement, the terms of which separate agreement shall govern your use of this material and all supplemental related materials ("Purpose").

In addition, by accessing the enclosed material, you acknowledge and agree that you are required to maintain such material in strict confidence and that your use of such material is limited to the Purpose described above. Although Infor has taken due care to ensure that the material included in this publication is accurate and complete, Infor cannot warrant that the information contained in this publication is complete, does not contain typographical or other errors, or will meet your specific requirements. As such, Infor does not assume and hereby disclaims all liability, consequential or otherwise, for any loss or damage to any person or entity which is caused by or relates to errors or omissions in this publication (including any supplementary information), whether such errors or omissions result from negligence, accident or any other cause.

Without limitation, U.S. export control laws and other applicable export and import laws govern your use of this material and you will neither export or re-export, directly or indirectly, this material nor any related materials or supplemental information in violation of such laws, or use such materials for any purpose prohibited by such laws.

Trademark Acknowledgements

The word and design marks set forth herein are trademarks and/or registered trademarks of Infor and/or related affiliates and subsidiaries. All rights reserved. All other company, product, trade or service names referenced may be registered trademarks or trademarks of their respective owners.

Publication Information

Document code	tswarrantiesug (U9796)	
Release	10.7 (10.7)	
Publication date	June 3, 2025	

Table of Contents

About this document

Chapter 1	Warranties	7
Warra	anties	7
	Warranty and warranty templates	7
	Serialized item warranty	7
	To customize a serialized item's warranty terms	13
	Start/Stop serialized item warranty by event	14
	Extending the serialized item warranty period	14
	Determine warranty coverage	15
	Terminate Warranty	15
Chapter 2	Managing Warranty	17
Warra	anty handling on service order/activity/maintenance sales order	17
	Generic warranty	17
	Serialized warranty	18
	Warranty set to No Warranty	18
	Setting default warranty type manually	18
	Estimating service order costs	19
	Registering actual service order costs	19
	Costing service order cost lines	19
	Posting service order to history	19
Warra	anty handling on customer claims	19
	Generic warranty	20
	Serialized warranty	20

About this document

This guide provides information about the various concepts and processes such as customer claim, supplier claim and generating supplier claim, available for the Warranty functionality.

Objectives

This document is designed to meet the objectives described below. It is assumed that you already have a understanding of LN Service

Understand the following concepts

- Warranty
- Warranty Handling

To perform the following tasks

- Defining generic/serialized warranty
- Linking the warranties to Service Order/ Maintenance Sales Orders/Customer Claims

Document summary

This guide explains the various concepts and processes available for the Warranty functionality.

How to read this document

This document is assembled from online Help topics. As a result, references to other sections in the manual are presented as shown in the following example:

For details, refer to LN Service Online Help.

Please refer to the Table of Contents to locate the referred section.

Underlined terms indicate a link to a glossary definition. If you view this document online and you click on underlined text, you jump to the glossary definition at the end of this document.

Comments?

We continually review and improve our documentation. Any remarks/requests for information concerning this document or topic are appreciated. Please e-mail your comments to documentation@infor.com.

In your e-mail, refer to the document number and title. More specific information will enable us to process feedback efficiently.

Contacting Infor

If you have questions about Infor products, go to Infor Concierge at https://concierge.infor.com/ and create a support incident.

If we update this document after the product release, we will post the new version on the Infor Support Portal. To access documentation, select **Search Browse Documentation**. We recommend that you check this portal periodically for updated documentation.



Warranties

Warranty and warranty templates

A warranty is a guarantee that a component is repaired free of charge or at reduced costs if the component does not work according to the agreed specifications, within the specified period.

A warranty can be created in the Warranty Templates (tsctm0120m000) session. You can also define the warranty terms in this session.

In the Warranty Templates (tsctm0120m000) details session, you can define the following:

- Terms effectivity
- Warranty type
- Currency
- Template validity
- Warranty Duration Type
- Warranty Start Date Determined by

You can link the warranty to:

- A service item in the Items Service (tsmdm2100m000) session.
- A serialized item in the Serialized Items (tscfg2100m000) session.
- A default item data in the Items Service Defaults (tsmdm2105m000) session.

Serialized item warranty

A warranty becomes active when it is linked to a serialized item and the delivery date or operational date of the serialized item is specified.

The warranty data is defaulted to the Serialized Item Warranty (tscfg2650m000) session, when a warranty template is linked to a serialized item in the Serialized Items (tscfg2100m000) session. The warranty data and the terms are defaulted from the Warranty Templates (tsctm0120m000) session based on the warranty template linked to the serialized item.

If the **Use Warranty Events** check box is selected in the General Service Parameters (tsmdm0100m000) and the Service Offices (tsmdm1100m100) sessions, warranty log is generated in the Warranty Log (tscfg2151m000) session. When the warranty is triggered by the events, the events linked to the warranty template are defaulted in the Warranty Events (tscfg2152m000) session.

The duration of the warranty coverage is determined based on the value selected in the **Warranty Duration Type** and the **Warranty Start Determined By** fields:

Warranty Duration Type	Warranty Start Date Determined Impact		
	Ву		

Fixed Duration Delivery/ Installation

- The Warranty Start Date is set to the Delivery Time/ Installation Time specified for the serialized item in the Serialized Items (tscfg2100m000) session.
- The Warranty Start Date specified for the warranty is defaulted as the Effective Date for the coverage terms linked to the warranty. The Expiry Date of the coverage terms is calculated as: Warranty Start Date+ Number of Periods (specified in the Valid For field in the Warranty Coverage Terms (tsctm1120m500) session)
- If the Delivery Time/ Installation Time specified for the serialized item is modified, the Warranty Start Date is updated with the modified value and the Expiry Date of the coverage terms is recalculated.
- The Terms Expire On field is set to the End Date of the longest coverage term. This value is updated when the coverage terms date is modified manually to a date later than the warranty End Date.

Log data is not maintained for the Fixed Duration Warranty Type.

Fixed End Date: The end date of **Delivery**/ **Installation** the warranty is fixed.

- The Fixed End Date of the warranty is calculated based on the Delivery Time/ Installation Time specified for the serialized item in the Serialized Items (tscfg2100m000) session: Installation Time/ Delivery Time+ No. of periods (specified in the Number of Periods field in the Warranty Templates (tsctm0120m000) session)
- The Effective Date of the coverage terms linked to the Warranty is set to the Delivery Time/ Installation Time specified for the serialized item in the Serialized Items (tscfg2100m000) session.
- The Expiry Date of the coverage terms is calculated as: Warranty Start Date+ Number of Periods (specified in the Valid For field in the Warranty Coverage Terms (tsctm1120m500).
 - Note: The Expiry Date of the coverage term cannot exceed the Fixed End Date of the warranty.
- Log data is maintained for the Fixed End Date Warranty Type.

Defined Events

The Fixed End Date of the warranty is set based on the start event defined for the Event Set linked to the warranty. The Warranty Start

Date is set to the date when the event is executed. The Fixed End Date is calculated as: Warranty Start Date+ Number of Periods (specified in the Number of Periods field in the Warranty Templates (tsctm0120m000) session).

- The Warranty Start Date set for the warranty is defaulted as the Effective Date for the coverage terms linked to the warranty. The Expiry Date of the coverage terms is calculated as: Warranty Start Date+ Number of Periods (specified in the Valid For field in the Warranty Coverage Terms (tsctm1120m500) session).
 - Note: The coverage terms date can be modified manually. However, the Expiry Date of the coverage term cannot be later than the Fixed End Date of the warranty.
- Log data is maintained for the Fixed End Date Warranty Type.

Flexible Duration

Defined Events

- The Warranty Start Date of the warranty is set based on the start event defined for the Event Set linked to the warranty. When the start event is executed, the Warranty Start Date is set to the date when the event is executed.
 - The Warranty Start Date set for the warranty is defaulted as the Effective Date for the coverage terms linked to the

warranty. The Expiry Date of the coverage terms is calculated as: Warranty Start **Date+ Number of Periods** (specified in the Valid For field in the Warranty Coverage Terms (tsctm1120m500) session).

If the dates specified for the coverage terms is updated, the **Terms Expire On** date is also updated.

Combined Duration

Defined Events

- A Pre-installation and Postinstallation period is specified for the warranty. The warranty is applicable only if a predefined start event, that indicates the item's installation, is executed within the specified pre-installation period. A warranty is not applicable if the installation is done after the pre-installation period.
- The Warranty Start Date is set to the date when the start event is executed, only when the start date is within the defined pre-installation period.
- The Warranty End Date is determined based on the value set in the Combined **Duration Type** field:
 - Additive: If the item is installed within the preinstallation period, the warranty is applicable for the complete post-installation period, from the time the item is installed. The Warranty Start **Date** set for the warranty is defaulted as the Effec-

- tive Date for the coverage terms linked to the warranty. The Expiry Date of the coverage terms is calculated as: Warranty Start Date+Number of Periods (specified in the Valid For field in the Warranty Coverage Terms (tsctm1120m500) session).
- Subtractive: If the item is installed within the pre-installation period, the warranty is applicable for the entire (or remaining part of the) postinstallation period, from the time the item is installed. The Warranty Start Date set for the warranty is defaulted as the **Effective Date** for the coverage terms linked to the warranty. The **Expiry Date** of the coverage terms is calculated as: Warranty Start **Date+ Number of Peri**ods (specified in the Valid For field in the Warranty Coverage Terms (tsctm1120m500) session). If the calculated Expiry Date of the coverage terms is later than the 'pre-installation period end date', this date is considered as the coverage term end date. The 'pre-installation end date' is calculated as: The (first) **Transaction Date** from the Warranty Log (tscfg2151m000)

session + the pre-installation period defined in the Serialized Item Warranty (tscfg2650m000) session, converted to days.

- Example, if the Preinstallation period is 5 years and the Post-installation period is 1 year, and the pre-installation period is started and the serialized item is installed after 4.5 years:
 - For a combined warranty with type Additive, 1 year warranty is given
 - For a combined warranty with type Subtractive, 0.5 year warranty is given.

You can define coverage terms for the warranty by selecting the **Coverage Terms** option from the Coverage Terms menu. In the Warranty Coverage Terms (tsctm1120m500) session, you can define:

- Coverage type
- Term type
- Cost-covering method
- Term phasing data
- Cost and sales amounts (for serialized items only)

If you link a warranty to a (top) serialized item, the above-mentioned terms also apply to the (top) serialized item and the serialized items in the physical breakdown. The warranty terms of the (top) serialized item can be customized.

To customize a serialized item's warranty terms

1. In the Serialized Items (tscfg2100m000) session, select the appropriate serialized item line.

2. On the **Coverage** tab, click the button next to the **Template** field to access the Warranty Coverage Terms (tsctm1120m500) session. You can add, change, or delete warranty terms in this session.

Start/Stop serialized item warranty by event

When an event that starts or stops a warranty is executed, an action is logged in the Warranty Log (tscfg2151m000) session with the **Kind of Change** field set to **Timer Log**.

The warranty timer can be started by only one event, for the first time. For example, when the item is sold or shipped (issued). When this start event is executed, the **Warranty Start Date** is updated with the **Last Start Date** from the Warranty Log (tscfg2151m000) session.

The events can stop (pause) and start warranty at any given point of time. These actions are logged in the Warranty Log (tscfg2151m000) session. The overall warranty period can be extended for the total duration for which the warranty is stopped.

The warranty events can be started/stopped automatically or manually.

Extending the serialized item warranty period

The Warranty Log (tscfg2151m000) session is used to track the period for which the warranty for a serialized item is stopped (paused). The warranty duration is extended with this period, after the item repair process is completed. The warranty duration can be extended only when the **Warranty Duration Type** is set to **Flexible Duration** or **Combined Duration** in the Warranty Templates (tsctm0120m000) session.

The duration of the warranty is extended for the number of days between the first logged warranty stop event and the last logged warranty start event.

Note

More than one start/stop event can exist for a warranty.

The **Warranty End Date Updated On** is updated accordingly in the Serialized Item Warranty (tscfg2650m000) session.

For a warranty, if the **Update Warranty End Date automatically** check box is selected in the Serialized Item Warranty (tscfg2650m000) session, the **Expiry Date** of the linked warranty coverage terms is extended with the number of days for which the warranty is stopped. The **Terms Expire On** date is updated accordingly.

If the **Update Warranty End Date automatically** check box is cleared, you can use the Extend Warranty option in the Serialized Item Warranty (tscfg2650m000) session, to extend the warranty.

If the **Warranty Duration Type** is set to **Combined Duration**, the Pre-Installation and the Post-Installation periods must be defined. The extension of the warranty duration is applicable only for the Post-Installation period. This is the period in which the warranty coverage is active.

Determine warranty coverage

When the event that starts the warranty is executed, the **Start Date** for the warranty is defaulted with the date when the event executed. Infor LN checks if there are open service objects such as calls, service order and maintenance sales orders, linked to serialized item for which the warranty is applicable. If existing, you can select to update the start date for the coverage terms linked to the open service objects. The warranty coverage for the linked estimated and the actual cost lines is recalculated.

If a warranty is terminated for a serialized item, the warranty for the service object is applicable only when the coverage time defined for the service object is before the termination date of the warranty.

Note

The warranty coverage is applicable only for the orders with the **Pricing Method**, **Time and Material**.

Terminate Warranty

You can use the Terminate Serialized Item Warranty (tscfg2250m000) session to terminate a warranty that is linked to a serialized item and is active. The **Terminate Warranty** option in the Serialized Item Warranty (tscfg2650m000) session can be used to access this session. You must specify the **Reason** Code and the **Termination Date**. Before terminating the warranty, Infor LN checks if a service object (open orders, calls and so on) exists for the serialized item, with the **Warranty Type** set to Serialized Item Warranty, that is yet to be processed. If the **Simulate** check box is selected in the Terminate Serialized Item Warranty (tscfg2250m000) session, these service objects are printed. If the **Simulate** check box is cleared:

- The Warranty Type field is set to No Warranty
- The warranty for the service object is deleted
- The warranty amount for the related cost lines is recalculated.

After the warranty is terminated, Infor LN updates the values in the **Terminated By**, Termination Reason and the **Termination Text** fields and selects the **Terminated** check box in the Serialized Item Warranty (tscfg2650m000) session.

Warranty handling on service order/activity/maintenance sales order

The cost lines linked to a service order activity or maintenance part lines can be covered by warranty. The warranty can be a serialized item control warranty or generic warranty. The warranty that is applied to the service order activity can be of type **Serialized Item Warranty** or **Warranty**.

Generic warranty

The generic warranty can be defined for anonymous and serialized items or on service type, service order activities, maintenance part lines, customer claims, calls, call invoices, and maintenance sales quotation lines.

If, for the Service Order Activities (tssoc2110m000) or Maintenance Sales Order - Part Lines (tsmsc1110m000), the serialized item is not defined, the **Warranty** is defaulted from the Service Types (tsmdm0130m000) session. The **Warranty Type** field is set to **Generic Warranty** in the Service Order Activities (tssoc2110m000)/ Maintenance Sales Order - Part Lines (tsmsc1110m000) session.

Note

- If the Force Generic Warranty check box is selected in the Service Types (tsmdm0130m000) session, you must define Generic Warranty in the Service Types (tsmdm0130m000) session. The Warranty Type field is set to Generic Warranty in the Service Order Activities (tssoc2110m000)/ Maintenance Sales Order Part Lines (tsmsc1110m000) session and the generic warranty of the service type is defaulted.
- If the Coverage Time defined in the Service Order Activities (tssoc2110m000)/ Maintenance Sales Order Part Lines (tsmsc1110m000) session is not within the Effective Date and the Expiry Date of the Generic Warranty defined in Generic Warranties (tsctm5100m000) session, the Warranty Type field is set to Generic Warranty, but the defaulted Warranty from the Service Types (tsmdm0130m000) session is cleared.

Serialized warranty

For the Service Order Activities (tssoc2110m000)/ Maintenance Sales Order - Part Lines (tsmsc1110m000) sessions, the serialized warranty defined for the serialized item in the Serialized Items (tscfg2100m000) session is used by LN. The following are the possible scenarios:

- LN sets the Warranty Type field to Serialized Item Warranty, if the Serialized Item Warranty Terms check box is selected and the Template field is specified in the Serialized Items (tscfg2100m000) session. The Warranty Type is set to No Warranty when the warranty terms are expired and no Generic Warranty is applicable.
- LN sets the Warranty Type field to Generic Warranty, if the Serialized Item Warranty Terms check box is not selected and the Generic Warranty field is specified in the Serialized Items (tscfg2100m000) session. The Warranty Type is set to No Warranty when the warranty terms are expired.

Note

- If the Force Generic Warranty check box is selected in the Service Types (tsmdm0130m000) session, you must define Generic Warranty in the Service Types (tsmdm0130m000) session. The Warranty Type field is set to Generic Warranty in the Service Order Activities (tssoc2110m000)/ Maintenance Sales Order Part Lines (tsmsc1110m000) session and the generic warranty of the service type is defaulted.
- If the Coverage Time defined in the Service Order Activities (tssoc2110m000)/ Maintenance Sales Order Part Lines (tsmsc1110m000) session is not within the Effective Date and the Expiry Date of the Generic Warranty defined in Generic Warranties (tsctm5100m000) session, the Warranty Type field is set to Generic Warranty, but the defaulted Warranty from the Service Types (tsmdm0130m000) session is cleared.

Warranty set to No Warranty

The **Warranty Type** field is set to **No Warranty** in the Service Order Activities (tssoc2110m000)/ Maintenance Sales Order - Part Lines (tsmsc1110m000) session, if **Warranty** is not defined in the Service Types (tsmdm0130m000) session or on the serialized item.

Setting default warranty type manually

If you manually change the default warranty type, the applicable warranty is also re-defaulted:

- From **No Warranty** to **Serialized Item Warranty**: If the warranty terms on serialized item expire, the coverage time on the order activity is set to expiry date of the serial warranty terms. The serialized warranty is defaulted on the service order activity.
- From No Warranty to Generic Warranty: If generic warranty and serialized warranty is not applied, you can change the Warranty Type from No Warranty to Generic Warranty. The Warranty field is enabled and you can define generic warranty.

From Serialized Item Warranty to Generic Warranty: If the serialized item warranty is applicable to the service order and the related cost must be allocated on a generic warranty, the Warranty field gets enabled and the Generic Warranty of service type is defaulted.

Estimating service order costs

For the estimated service order/part lines cost lines, the **Warranty** check box on the estimated cost lines is checked if the **Warranty** field is defined in the Service Order Activities (tssoc2110m000)/ Maintenance Sales Order - Part Lines (tsmsc1110m000) session.

Registering actual service order costs

When registering actual costs on the service order/part lines cost lines, warranty coverage is calculated for the cost lines that are linked to a service order/part lines.

When the **Warranty Type** field is set to **Serialized Item Warranty** in the Service Order Activities (tssoc2110m000)/ Maintenance Sales Order - Part Lines (tsmsc1110m000) session, the coverage calculation is based on the warranty coverage terms of the serialized item warranty.

When the **Warranty Type** field is set to **Generic Warranty** in the Service Order Activities (tssoc2110m000)/ Maintenance Sales Order - Part Lines (tsmsc1110m000) session, the coverage calculation is based on the **Warranty** defined in the Service Order Activities (tssoc2110m000)/ Maintenance Sales Order - Part Lines (tsmsc1110m000) session.

Costing service order cost lines

When the **Status** of the service order/part lines cost line is set to **Costed**, financial integration transaction are generated. The allocated amounts are transferred to **Spent Discount** amount in the Warranty Coverage Terms (tsctm1120m500) session. A new record is inserted in the Warranty Transactions (tsctm5101m000) session.

Posting service order to history

The closed and canceled service orders/maintenance sales orders are posted to service order/maintenance sales order history and the warranty type and warranty code are also copied to history.

Warranty handling on customer claims

The warranty on customer claim is based on the **Tagged To** field defined in the Customer Claim Lines (tscmm1110m000) session. The warranty applied to the claim line can be of the type **Serialized Item Warranty** or **Generic Warranty**.

Generic warranty

The claim cost can be **Tagged To** a **Serialized Item Warranty** or **Warranty**. When **Tagged To** is of the type **Generic Warranty**, the warranty is derived from the **Service Type** of customer claim. Otherwise, it is derived from the Serialized Items (tscfg2100m000) session.

If, on the customer claim header, the serialized item is not defined, the **Warranty** is derived from the Service Types (tsmdm0130m000) session. The **Tagged To** field is set to **Generic Warranty** in the Customer Claim Lines (tscmm1110m000) session.

Note

- If the **Force Generic Warranty** check box is selected in the Service Types (tsmdm0130m000) session, you must define **Generic Warranty** in the Service Types (tsmdm0130m000) session. The **Tagged To** field is set to **Generic Warranty** and the generic warranty of the service type is defaulted in the Customer Claim Lines (tscmm1110m000) session.
- If the Coverage Time defined in the Customer Claims (tscmm1100m000) session is not within the Effective Date and the Expiry Date of the Generic Warranty defined in Generic Warranties (tsctm5100m000) session, the Tagged To field is set to Generic Warranty in the Customer Claims (tscmm1100m000) session, but the defaulted Warranty from the Service Types (tsmdm0130m000) session is cleared.

Serialized warranty

For the Customer Claim Lines (tscmm1110m000) session, the warranty defined for the serialized item in the Serialized Items (tscfg2100m000) session is used by LN.

The following scenarios are applicable:

- LN sets the **Tagged To** field to **Serialized Item Warranty**, if the **Serialized Item Warranty Terms** check box is selected and the **Template** field is specified in the Serialized Items (tscfg2100m000) session. **Tagged To** is set to **Not Applicable** when the warranty terms are expired and no Generic Warranty is applicable.
- LN sets the **Tagged To** field to **Generic Warranty**, If the **Serialized Item Warranty Terms** check box is not selected and the **Generic Warranty** field is specified in the Serialized Items (tscfg2100m000) session. **Tagged To** is set to **Not Applicable** when the warranty terms are expired.

Note

- When a service type with a **Generic Warranty** is defined on the Customer Claims (tscmm1100m000) session for which the **Force Generic Warranty** check box is selected, any applicable serialized item specific warranty is overwritten with the **Generic Warranty** from the service type.
- If the Coverage Time defined in the Customer Claims (tscmm1100m000) session is not within the Effective Date and the Expiry Date of the Generic Warranty defined in Serialized Items (tscfg2100m000) session, the Tagged To field is set to Generic Warranty in the Customer

Claim Lines (tscmm1110m000) session, but the defaulted **Generic Warranty** from the Serialized Items (tscfg2100m000) session is cleared.